

The UN Human Rights Norms For Business: Towards Legal Accountability

First published in 2004 by Amnesty International Publications International Secretariat Peter Benenson House 1 Easton Street London WC1X 0DW United Kingdom

www.amnesty.org

© Copyright

Amnesty International Publications 2004

ISBN: 0-86210-350-9 AI Index: IOR 42/002/2004 Original language: English

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording and/or otherwise without the prior permission of the publishers.

# The UN Human Rights Norms For Business: Towards Legal Accountability

# **Contents**

Introduction	4
Why do we need the UN Human Rights Norms for Business?	5
How were the UN Human Rights Norms for Business prepared?	6
What is the legal status of the UN Human Rights Norms for Business?	6
What issues do the UN Human Rights Norms for Business cover?	7
Positive and negative obligations on businesses	8
Scope of the UN Human Rights Norms for Business	8
Which businesses are covered by the UN Norms?	8
What are the key substantive provisions?	
Non-discrimination	
Protection of civilians and laws of war	
Use of security forces	
Workers' rights  Corruption, consumer protection and human rights	
Economic, social and cultural rights	
Human rights and the environment	
Indigenous peoples' rights	
What implementation and enforcement mechanisms are provided by the	
UN Human Rights Norms for Business?	11
Why is a legal approach preferable? Do we need more regulation?	12
Will complying with the UN Norms add costs to companies?	12
Will the UN Norms add to bureaucracy?	13
Are the UN Norms too generic?	13
Will the UN Norms place unrealistic obligations on business?	13
Will the UN Norms make companies responsible for what governments should be doing?	14
Will the UN Norms delay the creation of binding regulations or undercut current standards?	14
What is the relationship between the UN Human Rights Norms for Business	
and the Global Compact?	
Conclusion	
Recommendations	
To governments	
To companies and business associations	
To the World Bank, regional banks and other financial institutions	
To non-governmental organizations and advocates	
Endnotes	
International human rights standards relevant to business	18
Commentary on the Norms on the Responsibilities of Transnational Corporations and Other Business Enterprises with Regard to Human Rights	20

# Introduction

Human rights organizations have addressed concerns to businesses for a number of years. Recognizing that economic globalization has expanded the reach of corporate power, advocates have struggled to ensure that companies, no less than other significant actors, are brought within the framework of international human rights rules. A significant step in this direction was taken in August 2003 by the UN Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights when it approved the UN Norms on the Responsibilities of Transnational Corporations and Other Business Enterprises with Regard to Human Rights.<sup>1</sup>

This booklet provides an introduction to the UN Human Rights Norms for Business. It answers a number of questions about the UN Norms and their legal status, and includes an overview of their development, background on the drafting process, and a description of the content and legal status of the UN Norms. The text of the UN Norms and their Commentary are reproduced on pages 20-35.

In Amnesty International's view, governments, advocates and companies should support the UN Human Rights Norms for Business as offering an authoritative and comprehensive statement of the responsibilities of companies in relation to human rights. The UN Norms provide clarity and credibility amidst many competing voluntary codes that too often lack international legitimacy, and provide far less detail on human rights issues. AI supports efforts to strengthen the legal basis for the UN Norms, and calls on governments, companies and advocates to disseminate and apply the UN Norms.

# Why do we need the UN Human Rights Norms for Business?

The nature and scale of the most recent wave of economic globalization has created a world that is more interdependent than ever before. Since the end of the Cold War there has been an explosion in international trade and financial relationships and a corresponding expansion in the power of large transnational corporations and financial institutions. Capital, labour, technology, and other resources are increasingly directed toward or away from investment destinations based mainly on economic factors. A growing number of businesses operate across boundaries in ways that exceed the regulatory capacities of any one national system. Economically powerful actors may dramatically influence policy – whether for good or ill – and thereby impact on the human rights of millions of people.

There is a well-established body of international human rights rules, dating back over half a century. The UN Charter of 1945 and the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR) of 1948 spelt out a number of important human rights obligations. In many instances, these obligations have now become customary international law, binding on all states. While primarily addressed to states, the Universal Declaration also calls on 'every organ of society' to respect, promote, and secure human rights – laying the foundation for obligations which apply not only to states but also to non-state actors including private businesses. Additional treaties elaborating the obligations in the UDHR followed. The growing acceptance of international human rights laws and standards made it inevitable that companies would face the question of their responsibilities towards human rights.

While the activities of businesses provide employment for countless millions, a variety of daily business practices may negatively affect human rights. Companies may violate human rights through their employment practices, or through the manner in which their production processes impact on workers, communities and the environment. Companies may also be implicated in abuses through their association with repressive governments or political authorities.

Scrutiny of the activities of global businesses led many companies to adopt codes of conduct during the 1980s and 1990s, and an emerging movement on corporate social responsibility led to numerous voluntary codes. However, voluntary codes of conduct, while a welcome signal of corporate commitment, have proved insufficient. Many codes are very vague in regard to human rights commitments. As far as AI is aware, fewer than 50 companies even refer explicitly to human rights in their codes. Whether unique to the company, or adopted sector-wide, voluntary codes too often lack international legitimacy.<sup>2</sup> This has resulted in calls for a more detailed, comprehensive, and effective instrument. The UN Human Rights Norms for Business took shape in this context.

'The good news is that there are now tools to help companies with this task. For example, the UN Sub-Commission on the promotion and protection of human rights has recently adopted a set of human rights norms for business, that pull together in one document international human rights standards that are relevant to business – relating to labour issues, health and environmental issues, discrimination issues, security issues, etc.' Mary Robinson. Director, Ethical Globalization Initiative.

Formerly UN High Commissioner for Human Rights.

The UN Human Rights Norms for Business set out, in a single, succinct statement, a comprehensive list of the human rights obligations of companies. They highlight best practice and various modes of monitoring and enforcement. In addition to setting a standard that business can measure itself against, the UN Norms are also a useful benchmark against which national legislation can be judged (to determine if governments are living up to their obligations to protect rights by ensuring that appropriate regulatory frameworks are in place). The UN Norms are also an important reference and campaigning tool for non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and grassroots activists.

# How were the UN Human Rights Norms for Business prepared?

The UN Human Rights Norms for Business were adopted by the UN Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights. The Sub-Commission is a body of independent human rights experts within the UN system. The experts are elected from all regions of the world by the UN Commission on Human Rights, which oversees the Sub-Commission's work. The Sub-Commission has drafted a number of human rights documents that have eventually developed into treaties or other UN standards, including the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, the UN Declaration on the Human Rights of Non-Nationals, and others.<sup>3</sup>

In 1997, the Sub-Commission prepared a study on the connection between transnational corporations and human rights. The following year a Working Group on the Working Methods and Activities of Transnational Corporations consisting of five Sub-Commission experts was established and in 1999 it began the process of preparing a draft Code of Conduct for companies. Prior laws and codes were researched and an extensive consultation process carried out. The consultation process solicited broad input and heard testimony from relevant stakeholders, including many businesses as well as unions, human rights organizations and other NGOs. After four years' work, the Working Group forwarded the draft UN Human Rights Norms for Business to the Sub-Commission, which unanimously adopted them in August 2003.

The UN Norms include a 'Commentary' which provides useful, authoritative guidance on the meaning of specific terms, the scope of particular provisions, and the legal basis for different obligations (with references to other international standards). When adopting the UN Norms, the Sub-Commission also welcomed the Commentary.<sup>4</sup>

'The Business Leaders Initiative on Human Rights programme is committed to testing the value of [the UN Norms] as a driver for change, and contributing to the work of existing networks and associations committed to promoting human rights in business.' The Business Leaders Initiative on Human Rights

(ABB, Barclays, MTV Europe, National Grid Transco, Novartis, Novo Nordisk, The Body Shop International)

# What is the legal status of the UN Human Rights Norms for Business?

The UN Norms are not a formal treaty, which states ratify and thereby assume binding legal obligations. On the other hand, the UN Norms are clearly more authoritative than the many codes of conduct adopted by companies, and are a significant advance over other existing standards. For a number of reasons, the UN Norms are likely to have some legal effect:

- International law is not static, and is in a constant process of development. To the
  extent that the UN Norms command attention and respect, and are used by advocates
  and companies, they will take on greater force. If national and international tribunals
  and courts begin to make reference to and apply the UN Norms, their legal effect will
  increase.
- Unlike codes of conduct (whether adopted by individual companies or sector-wide), the UN Norms result from a formal, UN-authorized, and consultative process. The process leading to the UN Norms is similar to that resulting in other 'soft law' standards, some of which are now seen as part of customary international law.
- In their tone and approach, the UN Human Rights Norms for Business are self-consciously normative. Unlike the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises, and the International

Labour Organization (ILO) Tripartite Declaration of Principles, the UN Norms are not limited by clauses emphasizing their non-regulatory nature.

All of the substantive human rights provisions in the UN Norms are drawn from existing international law and standards. The novelty of the UN Norms is to apply these – within the limits of businesses' impact and influence – to private enterprises, but even in doing so to draw on a wide range of international practice (including the practice of companies themselves). The UN Norms, in other words, are well-grounded in law.

Some argue that international law applies only between states, or that human rights obligations apply only to states, and that the UN Norms cannot create legal obligations for companies. This view can no longer be credibly maintained. While the major human rights treaties place obligations on states in the first instance, the substantive obligations those states are bound to enforce include ensuring respect for human rights – not least by non-state actors such as enterprises and individuals. For example, the ILO Conventions follow the formal structure whereby states ensure compliance by companies. However, it is recognized that they place substantive duties such as non-discrimination and respecting freedom of association directly on companies.

There is growing acceptance that international human rights treaties create obligations – at least indirectly – on companies.<sup>5</sup> For those conventions drafted so as to place liability directly on businesses the issue is beyond doubt.<sup>6</sup>

It is true that because most international human rights treaties were drafted with primary attention to the obligations of states (as opposed to businesses or individuals), the scope of those obligations when applied to companies may appear somewhat uncertain in some contexts. The allocation of responsibilities between government and businesses is evolving and developing, and so is the allocation of responsibilities between enterprises and the individuals running them. All that can be said with certainty is that there is a clear trend to extend human rights obligations beyond states, including to individuals (for international crimes), armed groups, international organizations, and private enterprises.<sup>7</sup> The UN Norms must be seen as part of this development.

'By setting forth in clear fashion the responsibilities of business leaders and managers confronting these issues, and contemplating mechanisms of monitoring and enforcement, the UN Human Rights Norms and Commentary provide a meaningful first step toward greater corporate accountability.'

Human Rights Watch

The Sub-Commission resolution adopting the UN Human Rights Norms for Business transmitted them to the Commission on Human Rights for information and consideration. Amnesty International hopes that the Commission will support the UN Norms, thus strengthening their legal effect (as the Commission is a formal UN body, composed of governments). Action by the Commission on Human Rights is not, however, a prerequisite for the legitimacy of the UN Norms.

# What issues do the UN Human Rights Norms for Business cover?

The UN Human Rights Norms for Business set forth basic, minimal business obligations regarding human rights. They reaffirm that states still bear the primary responsibility for promoting and protecting human rights, but recognize that transnational corporations and other businesses, as organs of society (and collections of individuals), carry responsibilities as well. The first operative paragraph states that the responsibilities apply to businesses 'within their respective spheres of activity and influence'. This

principle determines how all the succeeding paragraphs may be read and applied. That is, any duties companies have pursuant to the UN Norms are limited by the reach of their activity and influence.

# Positive and negative obligations on businesses

Within their spheres of activity and influence (which vary between large and small enterprises), the UN Human Rights Norms for Business require companies to 'promote, secure the fulfilment of, respect, ensure respect of and protect human rights recognized in international as well as national law.' At a minimum, this requires businesses to refrain from activities that directly or indirectly violate human rights, or benefit from human rights violations, and to use due diligence to do no harm.

The UN Norms also include the affirmative obligation to promote and work for the full protection of all human rights. The Commentary to the Norms requires businesses to use their influence to help promote and ensure respect for human rights.

To achieve both the negative obligations (to avoid complicity in violations in order to respect human rights) and the positive ones (to promote human rights), businesses can no longer be wilfully ignorant of the circumstances in which they operate; they must become much more aware of and sensitive to those circumstances, and much more engaged in taking actions to influence human rights positively.

#### Scope of the UN Human Rights Norms for Business

The UN Norms invoke a number of laws and standards that businesses should 'recognize and respect'. These include not only 'applicable' international norms, national laws and regulations, but also more abstract notions including 'the rule of law', the 'public interest', and 'development objectives, social, economic, and cultural policies including transparency, accountability, and prohibition of corruption.'

These less precise notions generally attempt to focus corporations on *public* interests, above and beyond *private* interests. The Commentary clarifies that within their resources, businesses should encourage social progress and development by expanding economic opportunities, especially in developing and least developed countries.

'The development of an international normative framework to guide corporate behaviour is a natural step in the development and constitution of a global international society.' Centro de Derechos Humanos y Ambiente (Centre for Human Rights and the Environment)

Argentina

# Which businesses are covered by the UN Norms?

The UN Norms apply to 'transnational corporations' and 'other business enterprises' and the definitions provided are intentionally broad. A transnational corporation is defined as an economic entity operating in two or more countries. Other business enterprises, including purely domestic enterprises, are also covered in addition to transnational corporations. This prevents transnational corporations being able to avoid the application of the UN Norms by reorganizing their operations as strictly domestic entities, conducting business through independent contracts. In addition to this broad language, the UN Norms confirm explicitly that they should be presumed to apply if the business enterprise has any relation with a transnational corporation, if the impact of its activities is not entirely local, or the activities are so serious that they affect the right to security of life and person.

# What are the key substantive provisions?

## Non-discrimination

The prohibition of discrimination is a fundamental human rights principle, and it is included prominently in the UN Human Rights Norms for Business. Non-discrimination provides an example of both the negative obligation to refrain from violations and the affirmative obligation to promote human rights. Businesses are required not to discriminate on grounds unrelated to the job (for example, race, colour, sex, language, religion or political opinion) and as well to promote equal opportunities. The Commentary clarifies that this non-discrimination obligation extends, for example, to health status (for example HIV/AIDS or disability), sexual orientation, pregnancy, or marital status. Physical or verbal abuse in the workplace is similarly prohibited, with businesses obliged to ensure that such abuse will not be tolerated.

#### Protection of civilians and laws of war

The UN Human Rights Norms for Business make clear that businesses will have to ensure that they do not aid or abet human rights violations, nor benefit from war crimes such as plunder and pillage, crimes against humanity, genocide, torture, forced labour, hostage-taking, or other violations of international human rights or humanitarian law. These have been among the most serious violations in recent years. Moreover, concerns about human rights violations committed in conflict are intensifying. The UN Norms require businesses to exercise due diligence regarding the source or potential uses of goods or services, and in some instances to forego business opportunities in order to avoid complicity in, or encouragement of, human rights violations.

For example, the Commentary makes clear that this provision would require businesses supplying arms, or security products or services to 'take stringent measures' to prevent use in connection with human rights violations, which would presumably include due diligence to ensure that their *customers* are not known human rights violators; that appropriate direction and training is provided, and the like. The Commentary also indicates a prohibition on the production and sale of weapons declared illegal under international law, as well as trade known to lead to human rights violations.

# Use of security forces

One of the recurring patterns of companies' human rights abuses has stemmed from violations committed by security forces which have neglected local and international human rights standards. This includes, but is not limited to, situations in which extractive, energy, or other businesses have required the services of state security forces who have used excessive force against peacefully protesting indigenous communities or striking workers. Greater attention to these issues is essential, as is compliance with international instruments and due diligence procedures, and prior and ongoing consultation with affected communities. Businesses using security forces should establish policies to ensure that security-related *employees or contractors* are not known human rights violators; to provide adequate training in human rights procedures to security forces; and to incorporate human rights obligations in security contracts.

## Workers' rights

Labour rights are an area where companies are likely to have a direct impact on the protection of human rights. The UN Norms and Commentary reiterate, on the one hand, the prohibitions on forced or compulsory labour and against exploitation of children, and on the other hand, the mandates for safe and healthy working conditions, remuneration that ensures an adequate standard of living, freedom of association, and the right to collective bargaining. The Commentary to the paragraph explains that workers shall have the opportunity to leave employment, and that businesses shall take action against debt bondage and contemporary forms of slavery (such as human trafficking). Prison labour is allowed only in accordance with international law, after

conviction in a court of law and under public supervision. Except for light work – the definition of which emphasizes work that is not harmful to the health or development of the child – child labour prior to age 15 or the end of compulsory schooling is presumed to be exploitative.

"...The norms provide a new instrument to oblige companies to fulfil a very broad set of human rights guaranteed in different international Declarations and Conventions. The responsibility would cover the whole supply chain of companies and the employers, understood in a broad sense, would be considered liable for the offences made'

WCL (World Confederation of Labour)

There might be some controversy over the provision obliging 'remuneration that ensures an adequate standard of living' – a living wage. Some economists as well as some businesses argue that any floor established for compensation unjustifiably interferes with the free market, creates inefficiencies, and in the end will reduce the number of jobs. But the UN Norms do not attempt to establish an international minimum wage. All they require is fair compensation under local standards. A job that fails to pay such fair compensation is exploitative, and a violation of human rights.<sup>8</sup>

# Corruption, consumer protection and human rights

Corruption by governmental officials undermines the rule of law, diverts resources that could be used to fulfil human rights commitments, and reinforces poverty and inequality. The UN Norms concisely restate international standards against corruption and bribery.

The UN Norms also reaffirm obligations of fair and honest business practices according to consumer protection laws and standards. The UN Norms state that this includes a duty to refrain from producing or marketing harmful or even potentially harmful products. The Commentary clarifies that this is to be understood 'in the context of reasonable usage and custom'.

# Economic, social and cultural rights

One result of the ideological divisions of the Cold War was that when the provisions of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights were elaborated, they were split between two treaties: the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and the International Covenant on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights. After the Cold War, it again became possible to view human rights obligations as interdependent. Without protecting basic subsistence rights (such as food, water or shelter), it is difficult to exercise civil and political rights (such as free speech, fair trials or electoral participation). Conversely, the exercise of civil and political rights is often essential to overcoming discrimination and obtaining protection for economic, social and cultural rights.

The UN Human Rights Norms for Business oblige businesses to respect all human rights, and to 'contribute to their realization'. Some UN treaty bodies have already stated authoritatively that their treaties apply directly to businesses in areas including privacy, food, water, and health. The UN Norms similarly emphasize that businesses should do what they can 'within their respective spheres of activity and influence' to uphold the rights to adequate food, drinking water, the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, housing and education. They also forthrightly support the right to development and the rights of indigenous peoples. The right to development is described as entitling 'every ... person and all peoples to participate in, contribute to and enjoy economic, social, cultural and political development in which all human rights and fundamental freedoms can be fully realized.' Businesses globally can play a particularly important role in this regard.

# Human rights and the environment

Pursuant to the UN Norms, businesses are obliged to comply with international and national laws, policies, and regulations on preserving the environment. This includes complying with the precautionary principle and conducting their activities so as to contribute to the wider goal of sustainable development.

The precautionary principle – to err on the side of caution and refrain from actions indicating unacceptable human rights or environmental risks – may conflict with some businesses' interpretation of an entrepreneurial, risk-taking culture. For example, those companies that do not accept the emerging scientific consensus about climate change will not be receptive to the Commentary's provision that the lack of 'full scientific certainty' should not be used as a reason to delay remedial measures. On the other hand, there is growing acceptance of the precautionary principle, even if its precise meaning is ambiguous, and many companies have stated their commitment to it (for example, in the Global Compact).

'The UN Norms On Transnational Business set an important precedent in the struggle to make corporations accountable and liable for their actions everywhere and anywhere in this planet.'

Greenpeace

# Indigenous peoples' rights

Numerous provisions of the UN Norms provide safeguards that are important for indigenous people, not least the strong guarantee of non-discrimination and the inclusion of a general commitment to respect cultural rights. The Commentary calls on companies to respect the rights of indigenous communities to own their lands and other natural resources, and their cultural and intellectual property. It specifies that companies should respect the principle of free, prior and informed consent of communities to be affected by development projects. The Commentary also states that companies should not forcibly evict communities 'without having had recourse to, and access to, appropriate forms of legal or other protection pursuant to international human rights law.' Companies should engage in periodic assessment of their compliance with the UN Norms taking into account comments from indigenous communities.

# What implementation and enforcement mechanisms are provided by the UN Human Rights Norms for Business?

In addition to setting out the human rights obligations of companies, the UN Norms also give attention to implementation and enforcement.

The first mode of implementation relies on the business itself creating a more human rights oriented culture. Companies should:

- adopt *internal* operational rules complying with the UN Norms (for example, a human rights policy);
- incorporate the UN Norms in contracts and dealings with others;
- train all concerned;
- (over time) deal only with suppliers and other businesses which follow the UN Norms:
- ensure monitoring throughout the supply chain;
- establish confidential 'hotlines' and worker complaint mechanisms; and,
- periodically conduct self-evaluation, report compliance and implement remedial plans.

Second, the Norms contemplate that their application could be assessed through *external* monitoring and verification, for example by existing UN human rights mechanisms.

Other bodies such as unions, non-governmental organizations, ethical investment initiatives and industry groups would be encouraged to use the UN Norms as the basis for monitoring, dialogue, lobbying and campaigning activities with businesses.

'These norms have been put together by people representing various backgrounds including companies. They clarify companies' social obligations already existing under international law and offer a comprehensive tool and a practical answer to both questions of what are exactly the priorities which companies should have in terms of human rights, right to work and environment and what are the aspects of companies' social management that institutional investors will take into account in their choice of investments.

In particular the objective of these Norms is to take a first step towards a common legislation which would define the same rules of the game for everyone. In this respect, they should be a priority for the UN.'

Batirente, a financial institution managing the pension assets of different groups of workers in Québec, Canada

The third method of enforcement is through the state and individuals and organizations using state enforcement mechanisms. This includes publicizing the UN Norms, using them as a model for business activities, and the traditional means of passing, strengthening, and enforcing laws and regulations implementing them, and of course enforcing them in national and international courts and tribunals. Businesses must pay for any damage they cause, and both lawyers and clients can urge national and international courts and tribunals to use the UN Norms to apply damages and criminal sanctions.

# Why is a legal approach preferable? Do we need more regulation?

The most basic objection to the UN Norms is grounded in a resistance to normative or legal frameworks and a belief that voluntary approaches are preferable as they more easily obtain the necessary commitment from companies. This argument ignores the inability of voluntary approaches to reduce persistent abuses and achieve compliance with generally agreed substantive norms. It also ignores the historical reality that some form of legal framework is often necessary to restrain abuses.

Most importantly, perhaps, the argument against regulation ignores the fact that voluntary approaches work best for the well-intentioned. Despite the interest in corporate social responsibility, the overwhelming majority of companies have no human rights policy at all, and only a few companies are prepared to make explicit commitments in this area. The UN Norms level the playing field – and particularly if they are a basis for renewed attention by governments to their own responsibilities.

# Will complying with the UN Norms add costs to companies?

Some companies and governments object to regulation (of any sort) because they believe compliance will cost too much. In this specific context, there has been an objection to the Commentary provision that, within their 'resources and capabilities', businesses should study the human rights and environmental impacts of their activities. Such a human rights impact statement is increasingly recognized, however, as a prudent and necessary component of risk-assessment. Others have objected to the Commentary's call for companies to make environmental and human health reports publicly accessible –

some object to the general call for enhanced transparency and disclosure. Although this challenges the traditional confidentiality in which decisions are made, people have a right to participate in decisions that affect them, and they can only do so if they have access to relevant information. It ought also to be clear that transparency will contribute, in the long term, to better business.

# Will the UN Norms add to bureaucracy?

Resistance for fear of bureaucratic regulation is misguided in other respects. First, the UN Norms do not call for onerous or bureaucratic regulation. Second, intelligent laws not only restrain abuses, they can also fulfil an important role in promoting better practices. Indeed, this is historically a key function of international human rights standards – setting benchmarks for national law and acting as a catalyst for progressive reform.

No serious business would argue that laws are never useful; companies depend, in fact, on regulation in many areas in order to operate. The question, therefore, is about the extent and scope of laws. Amnesty International believes that the UN Norms fill an important gap, and do not impose unreasonable demands on companies. Reflecting input not only from human rights and environmental experts and organizations, but also the business sector and unions, the UN Norms balance a normative framework with an acknowledgement of the role business can play in economic development and promotion of human rights.

# Are the UN Norms too generic?

One argument against the UN Norms is that they adopt a 'one-size-fits-all' approach. This is untrue. The UN Norms are explicit that they apply within the sphere of influence and control of the respective business, and that they need to be operationally tailored by company policies (within the boundaries established by the UN Norms) to reflect the values of a given business. The UN Norms are also explicitly variable depending on resource and capability limitations. However, the value of the UN Norms lies in their universality, and, because they comprise an *international* standard, of necessity they adopt a general approach.

Those who complain about the lack of specificity of the UN Norms, therefore, are missing the point. The UN Norms offer a statement of principles, not a detailed regulatory framework. The UN Norms do not tell companies whether particular investments, in particular countries, or specific business decisions are undesirable – no law of general application could do so. The UN Norms do, however, provide the key points – from a human rights perspective – that need to be considered in making such decisions.

'The UN Norms illuminate the role expected of corporations in today's inter-connected world. They aim to reconcile the claims of shareholders and the rights of stakeholders. Equipped with these comprehensive standards, companies can combine financial efficiency with social responsibility.'

OECD Watch

# Will the UN Norms place unrealistic obligations on business?

Some opponents argue that the UN Norms place unrealistic expectations on businesses to 'bite the hand that feeds them' by requiring them to criticize host governments. Because the UN Norms call on businesses to take affirmative steps to fulfil their human rights

obligations, they will undoubtedly require some firms to act or speak up for human rights, privately or publicly. However, companies cannot be silent witnesses to widespread human rights violations, nor can they hide behind the shield of 'respecting cultural relativism' where violations are concerned. The UN Norms do recognize that less powerful businesses need more leeway in interpreting these obligations than the more powerful.

# Will the UN Norms make companies responsible for what governments should be doing?

Another argument used against the UN Norms is that they attempt to 'replace government with business' by obligating business to provide essential goods or services (such as housing, food, health care or education) that are government responsibilities. This argument is misleading, because the UN Norms clearly distinguish between the primarily responsibilities of governments and the secondary responsibilities of business within their respective sphere of influence.

# Will the UN Norms delay the creation of binding regulations or undercut current standards?

The UN Norms have also been criticized by some – including certain NGOs – on the grounds that they fall short of creating binding legal obligations and that a binding, international treaty on this issue is needed. Leaving aside the very real difficulties in achieving such a treaty in the short-term, the UN Norms are a key contribution to developing international legal norms in relation to business and human rights. If this development is to include an international treaty, the UN Norms will assist in laying its foundations.

For those who fear that the current status of the UN Norms may undermine existing international legal obligations, it is important to draw attention to the 'savings clause', which is intended to ensure that businesses 'pursue the course of conduct that is the most protective of human rights'. This clause provides that the UN Norms do not diminish, restrict, or adversely affect national human rights obligations, more protective human rights norms, or business obligations in fields other than human rights.

The UN Norms are clearly intended to reinforce the approach that is most protective of human rights, whether that is found in international law, national law, or other sources, now or in the future. The UN Norms make a valuable contribution in clarifying the widespread scope and type of international human rights laws pertaining to global business, and the fact that despite their dramatic improvement over present practice, they are still expressed as 'minimum' standards which businesses are encouraged to exceed.

# What is the relationship between the UN Human Rights Norms for Business and the Global Compact?

The Global Compact states nine general principles, two of which relate to human rights. The UN Human Rights Norms for Business go into much greater detail, and reference key international instruments that provide much more significant guidance to transnational and other businesses confronting these issues, as well as the individuals and groups affected by and monitoring compliance.

'The Draft Norms have already initiated significant educational efforts and we are looking forward to seeing how these efforts could contribute positively to the Global Compact.' Global Compact Office

In Amnesty International's view, the UN Norms are essential for understanding the scope of the general human rights provisions in the Global Compact. Amnesty International believes that the Global Compact office should formally indicate that the UN Norms are an authoritative guide to Principles 1 and 2 of the Global Compact.

# Conclusion

The UN Human Rights Norms for Business are the first authoritative and comprehensive set of global business standards bearing the UN imprimatur – a powerful symbol of legitimacy and universality. They mark a clear step forward from voluntary codes of conduct towards establishing clear legal obligations in this area.

'We welcome the UN Human Rights Norms and Commentary as a valuable road-map for companies, guiding them through the thicket of human rights challenges before them.'

International Business Leaders Forum

Companies ought to respect human rights, avoid being complicit in human rights abuses, and, within their sphere of influence, do what they can to promote human rights principles. On this there is widespread agreement. The UN Human Rights Norms for Business provide a set of universal principles that set out in further detail what these commitments mean in practice. There is, therefore, a strong moral argument for supporting them.

There is also a strong business case in favour of the UN Norms. Businesses which respect ethics and law, and which have prudent risk management policies, have better prospects of surviving and prospering over the long run than those that do not. As the UN Norms are used and their legal authority continues to grow, they will place businesses on a more level playing field. The UN Norms are a practical device to help reveal risk-management issues and ensure that they are confronted and addressed.

The time has come for a stronger international framework for corporate accountability, and the UN Human Rights Norms for Business are a significant contribution to this. By bringing together in one place all the major international human rights, labour rights, and environmental laws and standards pertaining to global business, and by surveying key international instruments and best practice, the UN Norms provide helpful guidance and leadership opportunities for businesses willing to comply with their legal and ethical responsibilities. They also provide a useful tool for advocates who are engaging businesses on human rights issues.<sup>13</sup>

# Recommendations

Amnesty International urges the widest possible use and dissemination of the UN Human Rights Norms for Business. We believe they will be of interest and practical benefit to all those concerned to ensure companies respect human rights and use their influence in ways that promote human rights.

We offer the following recommendations.

# To governments

- Use the UN Human Rights Norms for Business as a benchmark to ensure domestic legislation is adequate, and to inform the interpretation of the concept of due diligence by domestic courts.
- Establish the necessary legal and administrative framework for ensuring that

transnational corporations and other business enterprises abide by the UN Human Rights Norms for Business.

# To companies and business associations

- Adopt, disseminate and implement a code of conduct which complies with the UN Human Rights Norms for Business.
- Prepare and implement operational guidelines to apply the UN Human Rights Norms for Business.
- Apply the UN Human Rights Norms for Business in contracts and other dealings with contractors, sub-contractors and any other associates.
- Organize training seminars and workshops for staff and facilitate similar events with associates and within industry associations to raise awareness of the UN Human Rights Norms for Business.

# To the World Bank, regional banks and other financial institutions

- Evaluate companies in which you invest by using the UN Human Rights Norms for Business as a benchmark.
- Use the UN Human Rights Norms for Business in the development of criteria to assess the human rights impact of potential projects.

#### To the UN and OECD

- The UN Commission on Human Rights should support the UN Norms, including through a resolution welcoming their adoption. It should assist in efforts to disseminate the UN Norms to all governments.
- The Office of the Global Compact should issue a strong statement of support for the UN Human Rights Norms for Business, and indicate that the UN Norms are to be used as a reference for understanding Compact Principles 1 and 2 (on human rights).
- The Office of the Global Compact should disseminate the UN Human Rights Norms for Business through its networks.
- The OECD should indicate that the UN Human Rights Norms for Business are to be used as a reference for understanding the scope of the human rights clause in the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises.

# To non-governmental organizations and advocates

- Use the UN Human Rights Norms for Business in your monitoring, campaigning and lobbying activities and in your dialogues with companies, governments and other bodies.
- Support the further dissemination and development of the UN Human Rights Norms for Business.

# **Endnotes**

- 1 Available at www.business-humanrights.org
- Voluntary, company-specific codes of conduct are distinct from the International Labour Organization's Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy, www.ilo.org, or the Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises developed by the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, www.oecd.org
- For example, the Sub-Commission did the first draft on Article 27 (rights of minorities) of the International covenant on Civil and Political Rights, G.A. res. 2200A (XXI), 21 U.N. GAOR Supp. (No. 16) at 52, U.N. Doc. A/6316 (1966), 999 U.N.T.S. 171, entered into force Mar. 23, 1976. Also, the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, 660 U.N.T.S. 195, entered into force Jan. 4, 1969. The Declaration on the Protection of All Persons from Enforced Disappearances, G.A. res. 47/133, 47 U.N. GAOR Supp. (No. 49) at 207, U.N. Doc. A/47/49 (1992) adopted by General Assembly resolution 47/133 of 18 December 1992. And the Declaration on the Human Rights of Individuals Who are not Nationals of the Country in which They Live, G.A. res. 40/144, annex, 40 U.N. GAOR Supp. (No. 53) at 252, U.N. Doc. A/40/53 (1985).
- 4 Available at www.business-humanrights.org
- 5 See Beyond Voluntarism: Human rights and the developing international legal obligations of companies, International Council on Human Rights Policy, 2002.
- 6 These include, for example, the International Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage, 1969, and the Convention on Civil Liability for damage resulting from activities dangerous to the environment, 1993.
- 7 In addition to state obligations to ensure respect for customary international law norms (for example the prohibition of genocide, torture, or slavery), all major human rights and humanitarian law treaties call on states to ensure that non-state actors respect the human rights obligations therein.
- 8 See for example, the International Covenant on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights, Art.11 (right to adequate standard of living).
- 9 Human Rights Committee, General Comment 16 (Twenty-third session, 1988).
- 10 Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, General Comment 12, Right to adequate food, UN Doc. E/C.12/1999/5.
- 11 Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, General Comment 15, The right to water, UN Doc. E/C.12/2002/11.
- 12 Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, General Comment 14, The right to the highest attainable standard of health, UN Doc. E/C.12/2000/4.
- 13 Hundreds of non-governmental organizations have already joined Amnesty International in endorsing the Norms. For further information, in addition to Amnesty International's website (www.amnesty.org), see also www.business-humanrights.org, the website of the Business and Human Rights Resource Centre (an independent organization working in partnership with Amnesty International and leading academic institutions).

# International human rights standards relevant to business

#### **Universal Declaration o**

The Universal Declaration of Human Rights calls or their part in securing the observance of human r responsibility to promote and protect human rights, for promoting and securing those human r

# International human rights treaties containing internat

International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (1966)

(Right to life, freedom from slavery and forced labour, nondiscrimination, freedom of expression and assembly, and others...) International
Convention on the
Elimination of All
Forms of Racial
Discrimination (1966)

Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (1979)

# Regional human rights treaties containing internatio

European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (1950)

African Charter on Human and People's Rights (1981)

European Social Charter (1961)

# Specific international conventions, principles and codes that business must respect

UN Basic Principles on the Use of Force and Firearms by Law Enforcement Officials (1990); UN Code of Conduct for Law Enforcement Officials (1979); Convention on Combating Bribery of Foreign Public Officials in International Business Transactions of the OECD (2001); Rio Declaration on the Environment and Development (1992); World Summit on Sustainable Development Plan of Development (2002); International Code of Marketing of Breast-milk Substitutes (1981); ILO Convention No. 87 Concerning the Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise; ILO Declaration on Fundamental Principles and the Rights at Work (1998); ILO Convention No. 169 on Indigenous and Tribal Peoples (1989); and others...

# The application to busines

UN Norms on the Responsibilities of Trans Enterprises with Regard

The UN Norms were written to be consistent with conventions, principles and declarations. They relate ties of I

# f Human Rights (1948)

n'every individual and every organ of society' to play ights. Even though nation states have the primary companies, as organs of society, are also responsible ights set forth in the Universal Declaration.

# ionally recognised standards that business must respect

Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Degrading Treatment or Punishment (1984) Convention on the Rights of the Child (1989)

International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (1966)

(Right to work, fair wages, safe and healthy conditions, join labour unions, health, education, and others...)

# nally recognised standards that business must respect

American Convention on Human Rights (1969) Arab Charter on Human Rights (1994)

Additional Protocol to the American Convention on Human Rights in the Area of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (1988)

# Commitments specific to business containing human rights standards

UN Global Compact (2000); OECD Guidelines on Multinational Enterprises (2000); ILO Tripartite Declaration of Principles Concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (1977); and others...

# s of all the above standards

# snational Corporations and Other Business to Human Rights (2003)

nternational, regional and multilateral agreements, these standards to specific human rights responsibilipusiness.

# Commentary on the Norms on the Responsibilities of Transnational Corporations and Other Business Enterprises with Regard to Human Rights

U.N. Doc. E/CN.4/Sub.2/2003/38/Rev.2 (2003)

#### Preamble

Bearing in mind the principles and obligations under the Charter of the United Nations, in particular the preamble and Articles 1, 2, 55, and 56, inter alia to promote universal respect for, and observance of, human rights and fundamental freedoms,

Recalling that the Universal Declaration of Human Rights proclaims a common standard of achievement for all peoples and all nations, to the end that Governments, other organs of society and individuals shall strive, by teaching and education, to promote respect for human rights and freedoms, and, by progressive measures, to secure universal and effective recognition and observance, including of equal rights of women and men and the promotion of social progress and better standards of life in larger freedom,

*Recognizing* that even though States have the primary responsibility to promote, secure the fulfillment of, respect, ensure respect of and protect human rights, transnational corporations and other business enterprises, as organs of society, are also responsible for promoting and securing the human rights set forth in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights,

Realizing that transnational corporations and other business enterprises, their officers and persons working for them are also obligated to respect generally recognized responsibilities and norms contained in United Nations treaties and other international instruments such as the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide; the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment; the Slavery Convention and the Supplementary Convention on the Abolition of Slavery, the Slave Trade, and Institutions and Practices Similar to Slavery; the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination; the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women; the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights; the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights; the Convention on the Rights of the Child; the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families; the four Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 and two Additional Protocols thereto for the protection of victims of war; the Declaration on the Right and Responsibility of Individuals, Groups and Organs of Society to Promote and Protect Universally Recognized Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms; the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court; the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime; the Convention on Biological Diversity; the International Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage; the Convention on Civil Liability for Damage Resulting from Activities Dangerous to the Environment; the Declaration on the Right to Development; the Rio Declaration on the Environment and Development; the Plan of Implementation of the World Summit on Sustainable Development; the United Nations Millennium Declaration; the Universal Declaration on the Human Genome and Human Rights; the International Code of Marketing of Breast-milk Substitutes adopted by the World Health Assembly; the Ethical Criteria for Medical Drug Promotion and the "Health for All in the Twenty-First Century" policy of the World Health Organization; the Convention against Discrimination in Education of the United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization; conventions and recommendations of the International Labour Organization; the Convention and Protocol relating to the Status of Refugees; the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights; the American Convention on Human Rights; the European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms; the Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union; the Convention on Combating Bribery of Foreign Public Officials in International Business Transactions of the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development; and other instruments,

*Taking into account* the standards set forth in the Tripartite Declaration of Principles Concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy and the Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work of the International Labour Organization,

Aware of the Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and the Committee on International Investment and Multinational Enterprises of the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development,

Aware also of the United Nations Global Compact initiative which challenges business leaders to "embrace and enact" nine basic principles with respect to human rights, including labour rights and the environment,

Conscious of the fact that the Governing Body Subcommittee on Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy, the Committee of Experts on the Application of Standards, as well as Committee on Freedom of Association of the International Labour Organization have named business enterprises implicated in States' failure to comply with Conventions No. 87 concerning the Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organize and No. 98 concerning the Application of the Principles of the Right to Organize and Bargain Collectively, and seeking to supplement and assist their efforts to encourage transnational corporations and other business enterprises to protect human rights,

Conscious also of the Commentary on the Norms on the responsibilities of transnational corporations and other business enterprises with regard to human rights, and finding it a useful interpretation and elaboration of the standards contained in the Norms,

Taking note of global trends which have increased the influence of transnational corporations and other business enterprises on the economies of most countries and in international economic relations, and of the growing number of other business enterprises which operate across national boundaries in a variety of arrangements resulting in economic activities beyond the actual capacities of any one national system,

*Noting* that transnational corporations and other business enterprises have the capacity to foster economic well-being, development, technological improvement and wealth, as well as the capacity to cause harmful impacts on the human rights and lives of individuals through their core business practices and operations, including employment practices, environmental policies, relationships with suppliers and consumers, interactions with Governments and other activities,

Noting also that new international human rights issues and concerns are continually emerging and that transnational corporations and other business enterprises often are involved in these issues and concerns, such that further standard-setting and implementation are required at this time and in the future,

Acknowledging the universality, indivisibility, interdependence and interrelatedness of human rights, including the right to development, which entitles every human person and all peoples to participate in, contribute to and enjoy economic, social, cultural and political development in which all human rights and fundamental freedoms can be fully realized,

Reaffirming that transnational corporations and other business enterprises, their officers – including managers, members of corporate boards or directors and other executives – and persons working for them have, inter alia, human rights obligations and responsibilities and that these human rights norms will contribute to the making and development of international law as to those responsibilities and obligations,

*Solemnly proclaims* these Norms on the Responsibilities of Transnational Corporations and Other Business Enterprises with Regard to Human Rights and urges that every effort be made so that they become generally known and respected.

# A. General obligations

1. States have the primary responsibility to promote, secure the fulfillment of, respect, ensure respect of and protect human rights recognized in international as well as national law, including ensuring that transnational corporations and other business enterprises respect human rights. Within their respective spheres of activity and influence, transnational corporations and other business enterprises have the obligation to promote, secure the fulfillment of, respect, ensure

respect of and protect human rights recognized in international as well as national law, including the rights and interests of indigenous peoples and other vulnerable groups.

#### Commentary

- (a) This paragraph reflects the primary approach of the Norms and the remainder of the Norms shall be read in the light of this paragraph. The obligation of transnational corporations and other business enterprises under these Norms applies equally to activities occurring in the home country or territory of the transnational corporation or other business enterprise, and in any country in which the business is engaged in activities.
- (b) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall have the responsibility to use due diligence in ensuring that their activities do not contribute directly or indirectly to human abuses, and that they do not directly or indirectly benefit from abuses of which they were aware or ought to have been aware. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall further refrain from activities that would undermine the rule of law as well as governmental and other efforts to promote and ensure respect for human rights, and shall use their influence in order to help promote and ensure respect for human rights. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall inform themselves of the human rights impact of their principal activities and major proposed activities so that they can further avoid complicity in human rights abuses. The Norms may not be used by States as an excuse for failing to take action to protect human rights, for example, through the enforcement of existing laws.

# B. Right to equal opportunity and non-discriminatory treatment

2. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall ensure equality of opportunity and treatment, as provided in the relevant international instruments and national legislation as well as international human rights law, for the purpose of eliminating discrimination based on race, colour, sex, language, religion, political opinion, national or social origin, social status, indigenous status, disability, age – except for children, who may be given greater protection – or other status of the individual unrelated to the inherent requirements to perform the job or of complying with special measures designed to overcome past discrimination against certain groups.

- (a) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall treat each worker with equality, respect and dignity. Examples of the other sorts of status on the basis of which discrimination should be eliminated are health status (including HIV/AIDS, disability), marital status, capacity to bear children, pregnancy and sexual orientation. No worker shall be subject to direct or indirect physical, sexual, racial, psychological, verbal, or any other discriminatory form of harassment or abuse as defined above. No worker shall be subject to intimidation or degrading treatment or be disciplined without fair procedures. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall establish a work environment in which it is clear that such discrimination will not be tolerated. These responsibilities shall be carried out in accordance with the Code of Practice on HIV/AIDS and the World of Work and the Code of Practice on Managing Disability in the Workplace of the International Labour Convention (ILO) and other relevant international instruments.
- (b) Discrimination means any distinction, exclusion, or preference made on the above-stated bases, which has the effect of nullifying or impairing equality of opportunity or treatment in employment or occupation. All policies of transnational corporations and other business enterprises, including, but not limited to, those relating to recruitment, hiring, discharge, pay, promotion and training, shall be non-discriminatory.
- (c) Particular attention should be devoted to the consequences of business activities that may affect the rights of women and particularly in regard to conditions of work.
- (d) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall treat other stakeholders, such as indigenous peoples and communities, with respect and dignity, and on a basis of equality.

# C. Right to security of persons

3. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall not engage in nor benefit from war crimes, crimes against humanity, genocide, torture, forced disappearance, forced or compulsory labour, hostage-taking, extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions, other violations of humanitarian law and other international crimes against the human person as defined by international law, in particular human rights and humanitarian law.

## Commentary

- (a) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises which produce and/or supply military, security, or police products/services shall take stringent measures to prevent those products and services from being used to commit human rights or humanitarian law violations and to comply with evolving best practices in this regard.
- (b) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall not produce or sell weapons that have been declared illegal under international law. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall not engage in trade that is known to lead to human rights or humanitarian law violations.
- 4. Security arrangements for transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall observe international human rights norms as well as the laws and professional standards of the country or countries in which they operate.

- (a) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises, their officers, workers, contractors, subcontractors, suppliers, licensees and distributors, and natural or other legal persons that enter into any agreement with the transnational corporation or business enterprise shall observe international human rights norms, particularly as set forth in the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment; the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court; the United Nations Basic Principles on the Use of Force and Firearms by Law Enforcement Officials; the United Nations Code of Conduct for Law Enforcement Officials; and emerging best practices developed by the industry, civil society and Governments.
- (b) Business security arrangements shall be used only for preventive or defensive services and they shall not be used for activities that are exclusively the responsibility of the State military or law enforcement services. Security personnel shall only use force when strictly necessary and only to the extent proportional to the threat.
- (c) Security personnel shall not violate the rights of individuals while exercising the rights to freedom of association and peaceful assembly, to engage in collective bargaining, or to enjoy other related rights of workers and employers, such as are recognized by the International Bill of Human Rights and the Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work of the ILO.
- (d) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall establish policies to prohibit the hiring of individuals, private militias and paramilitary groups, or working with units of State security forces or contract security firms that are known to have been responsible for human rights or humanitarian law violations. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall engage with due diligence in investigations of potential security guards or other security providers before they are hired and ensure that guards in their employ are adequately trained, guided by and follow relevant international limitations with regard, for example, to the use of force and firearms. If a transnational corporation or other business enterprise contracts with a State security force or a private security firm, the relevant provisions of these Norms (paragraphs 3 and 4 as well as the related commentary) shall be incorporated into the contract and at least those provisions should be made available upon request to stakeholders in order to ensure compliance.
- (e) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises using public security forces shall

consult regularly with host Governments and, where appropriate, non-governmental organizations and communities concerning the impact of their security arrangements on local communities. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall communicate their policies regarding ethical conduct and human rights, and express their desire that security be provided in a manner consistent with those policies by personnel with adequate and effective training.

#### D. Rights of workers

5. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall not use forced or compulsory labour as forbidden by the relevant international instruments and national legislation as well as international human rights and humanitarian law.

#### Commentary

- (a) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall not use forced or compulsory labour, as forbidden in the ILO Forced Labour Convention, 1930 (No. 29) and the Abolition of Forced Labour Convention, 1957 (No. 105) and other relevant international human rights instruments. Workers shall be recruited, paid, and provided with just and favourable conditions of work. They shall take all feasible measures to prevent workers falling into debt bondage and other contemporary forms of slavery.
- (b) Workers shall have the option to leave employment and the employer shall facilitate such departure by providing all the necessary documentation and assistance.
- (c) Employers shall have resort to prison labour only in the conditions spelled out in ILO Convention No. 29, which allows such labour only as a consequence of a conviction in a court of law provided that the work or service is carried out under the supervision and control of a public authority and that the person concerned is not hired out to or placed at the disposal of private individuals, companies or associations.
- 6. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall respect the rights of children to be protected from economic exploitation as forbidden by the relevant international instruments and national legislation as well as international human rights and humanitarian law.

- (a) Economic exploitation of children includes employment or work in any occupation before a child completes compulsory schooling and, except for light work, before the child reaches 15 years of age or the end of compulsory schooling. Economic exploitation also includes the employment of children in a manner that is harmful to their health or development, will prevent children from attending school or performing school-related responsibilities, or otherwise is not consistent with human rights standards such as the Minimum Age Convention (No. 138) and Recommendation (No. 146), the Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention (No. 182) and Recommendation (No. 190) and the Convention on the Rights of the Child. Economic exploitation does not include work done by children in schools for general, vocational, or technical education or in other training institutions.
- (b) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall not employ any person under the age of 18 in any type of work that by its nature or circumstances is hazardous, interferes with the child's education, or is carried out in a way likely to jeopardize the health, safety, or morals of young persons.
- (c) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises may employ persons aged 13 to 15 years in light work if national laws or regulations permit. Light work is defined as work which is not likely to be harmful to the health or development of the child, and will not prejudice school attendance, participation in vocational orientation, training programmes approved by competent authority, or the child's capacity to benefit from the instruction received.
- (d) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall consult with Governments

on the design and implementation of national action programmes to eliminate the worst forms of child labour consistent with ILO Convention No.182. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises using child labour shall create and implement a plan to eliminate child labour. Such a plan shall assess what will happen to children when they are no longer employed in the business and include measures such as withdrawing children from the workplace in tandem with the provision of suitable opportunities for schooling, vocational training and other social protection for the children and their families, for example by employing the parents or older siblings or engaging in other measures consistent with ILO Recommendations Nos. 146 and 190.

7. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall provide a safe and healthy working environment as set forth in relevant international instruments and national legislation as well as international human rights and humanitarian law.

- (a) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises bear responsibility for the occupational health and safety of their workers and shall provide a working environment in accordance with the national requirements of the countries in which they are located and with international standards such as those found in the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights; ILO Conventions Nos. 110 (Plantations, 1958) 115 (Radiation Protection Convention, 1960), 119 (Guarding of Machinery Convention, 1963), 120 (Hygiene (Commerce and Offices) Convention, 1964), 127 (Maximum Weight Convention, 1967), 136 (Benzene Convention, 1971), 139 (Occupational Cancer Convention, 1974), 147 (Merchant Shipping, 1976), 148 (Working Environment (Air Pollution, Noise and Vibration) Convention, 1977), 155 (Occupational Safety and Health Convention, 1981), 161 (Occupational Health Services Convention, 1985), 162 (Asbestos Convention, 1986), 167 (Safety and Health in Construction Convention, 1988), 170 (Chemicals Convention, 1990), 174 (Prevention of Major Industrial Accidents Convention, 1993), 176 (Safety and Health in Mines Convention, 1995), 183 (Maternity Protection, 2000) and other relevant recommendations; as well as ensuring their application under ILO Conventions Nos. 81 (Labour Inspection Convention, 1947), 129 (Labour Inspection (Agriculture) Convention, 1969), 135 (Workers' Representatives Convention, 1971), and their successor conventions. Such a safe and healthy work environment for women and men shall aid in the prevention of accidents and injuries arising out of, linked with, or occurring within the course of work. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall also take into account the particular needs of migrant workers as set forth in the Migrant Workers (Supplementary Provisions) Convention, 1975 (No. 143) and the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families.
- (b) Consistent with paragraph 15 (a), transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall make available information about the health and safety standards relevant to their local activities. The information shall also include arrangements for training in safe working practices and details on the effects of all substances used in manufacturing processes. In particular, and additionally consistent with paragraph 15 (e), transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall make known any special hazards that tasks or conditions of work involve and the related measures available to protect the workers.
- (c) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall provide, where necessary, measures to deal with emergencies and accidents, including first-aid arrangements. They also shall provide, at their expense, personal protective clothing and equipment when necessary. Further, they shall incur expenses for occupational health and safety measures.
- (d) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall consult and cooperate fully with health, safety and labour authorities, workers' representatives and their organizations and established safety and health organizations on matters of occupational health and safety. They shall cooperate in the work of international organizations concerned with the preparation and adoption of international safety and health standards. Where appropriate, matters relating to safety and health should be incorporated in agreements with the representatives of the workers and their organizations. Transnational corporations and

other business enterprises shall examine the causes of safety and health hazards in their industry and work to implement improvements and solutions to those conditions, including the provision of safe equipment at least consistent with industry standards. Further, they shall monitor the working environment and the health of workers liable to exposure to specified hazards and risks. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall investigate work-related accidents, keep records of incidents stating their cause and remedial measures taken to prevent similar accidents, ensure the provision of remedies for the injured, and otherwise act in accordance with paragraph 16 (e).

- (e) Consistent with paragraph 16 (e), transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall also: (i) respect the right of workers to remove themselves from work situations in which there is a reasonable basis for concern about present, imminent and serious danger to life or health; (ii) not subject them to consequences as a result; and further (iii) not require them to return to work situations as long as the condition continues.
- (f) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall not require any worker to work more than 48 hours per week or more than 10 hours in one day. Voluntary overtime for workers shall not exceed 12 hours per week and shall not be expected on a regular basis. Compensation for such overtime shall be at a rate higher than the normal rate. Each worker shall be given at least one day off in every seven-day period. These protections may be adjusted to meet the different needs of management personnel; construction, exploration and similar workers who work for short periods (e.g. a week or two) followed by a comparable period of rest; and professionals who have clearly indicated their personal desire to work more hours.
- 8. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall provide workers with remuneration that ensures an adequate standard of living for them and their families. Such remuneration shall take due account of their needs for adequate living conditions with a view towards progressive improvement.

- (a) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall provide workers with fair and reasonable remuneration for work done or to be done, freely agreed upon or fixed by national laws or regulations (whichever is higher), payable regularly and at short intervals in legal tender, so as to ensure an adequate standard of living for workers and their families. Operations in the least developed countries shall take particular care to provide just wages. Wages shall be paid, consistent with international standards such as the Protection of Wages Convention, 1949 (No. 95). Wages are a contractual obligation of employers that are to be honoured even into insolvency in accordance with Workers' Claims (Employer's Insolvency) Convention, 1992 (No. 173).
- (b) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall not deduct from a worker's wages already earned as a disciplinary measure, nor shall any deduction from wages be permitted under conditions or to an extent other than as prescribed by national laws or regulations, or fixed by a collective agreement or arbitration award. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall also avoid taking actions to undermine the value of employee benefits, including pensions, deferred compensation and health care.
- (c) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall keep detailed written records on each worker's hours of work and wages paid. Workers shall be informed in an appropriate and easily understandable manner before they enter employment and when any changes take place as to the conditions in respect of wages, salaries and additional emoluments under which they are employed. At the time of each payment of wages, workers shall receive a wage statement informing them of such particulars relating to the pay period concerned as the gross amount of wages earned, any deduction which may have been made, including the reasons therefore, and the net amount of wages due.
- (d) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall not limit in any manner the freedom of workers to dispose of their wages, nor shall they exert any coercion on

workers to make use of company stores or services, where such stores exist. In cases in which the partial payment of wages in the form of allowances in kind is authorized by national laws or regulations, collective agreements, or arbitration awards, transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall ensure that such allowances are appropriate for the personal use and benefit of workers and their families and that the value attributed to such allowances is fair and reasonable

- (e) In determining a wage policy and rates of remuneration, transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall ensure the application of the principle of equal remuneration for work of equal value and the principle of equality of opportunity and treatment in respect of employment and occupation, in accordance with international standards such as the Equal Remuneration Convention, 1951 (No. 100), The Discrimination in Employment and Occupation Convention, 1958 (No. 111) and the Workers with Family Responsibilities Convention, 1981 (No. 156).
- 9. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall ensure freedom of association and effective recognition of the right to collective bargaining by protecting the right to establish and, subject only to the rules of the organization concerned, to join organizations of their own choosing without distinction, previous authorization, or interference, for the protection of their employment interests and for other collective bargaining purposes as provided in national legislation and the relevant conventions of the International Labour Organization.

- (a) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall respect workers' and employers' freedom of association consistent with the Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organize Convention, 1948 (No. 87) and other international human rights law. They shall respect the rights of workers' organizations to function independently and without interference, including with respect to the right of workers' organizations to draw up their constitutions and rules, to elect their representatives, to organize their administration and activities and to formulate their programmes. Further, they shall refrain from discriminating against workers by reason of trade union membership or participation in trade union activities, and shall refrain from any interference that restricts these rights or impedes their lawful exercise. They shall ensure that the existence of workers' representatives does not undermine the position of the union established consistent with international standards, and that workers' representatives are entitled to bargain collectively only where there is no such union in the company. Where appropriate in the local circumstances, multinational enterprises shall support representative employers' organizations.
- (b) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall recognize workers' organizations for the purpose of collective bargaining consistent with the Right to Organize and Collective Bargaining Convention, 1949 (No. 98) and other international human rights law. They shall respect the right of workers to strike, to submit grievances, including grievances as to compliance with these Norms, to fair and impartial persons who have the authority to redress any abuses found, and to be protected from suffering prejudice for using those procedures, consistent with the norms contained in the Collective Bargaining Convention, 1981 (No. 154).
- (c) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall enable representatives of their workers to conduct negotiations on their terms and conditions of employment with representatives of management who are authorized to make decisions about the issues under negotiation. They shall further give workers and their representatives access to information, facilities and other resources, and ensure internal communications, consistent with international standards such as the Workers' Representatives Convention, 1971 (No. 135) and the Communications within the Undertaking Recommendation, 1967 (No. 129) that are relevant and necessary for their representatives to conduct negotiations effectively and without unnecessary harm to legitimate interests of employers.
- (d) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall abide by provisions in collective bargaining agreements that provide for the settlement of disputes arising over their

interpretation and application and also by decisions of tribunals or other mechanisms empowered to make determinations on such matters. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises jointly with the representatives and organizations of workers shall seek to establish voluntary conciliation machinery, appropriate to national conditions, which may include provisions for voluntary arbitration, to assist in the prevention and settlement of industrial disputes between employers and workers.

(e) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall take particular care to protect the rights of workers from procedures in countries that do not fully implement international standards regarding freedom of association, the right to organize and the right to bargain collectively.

## E. Respect for national sovereignty and human rights

10. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall recognize and respect applicable norms of international law, national laws and regulations, as well as administrative practices, the rule of law, the public interest, development objectives, social, economic and cultural policies including transparency, accountability and prohibition of corruption, and authority of the countries in which the enterprises operate.

- (a) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises, within the limits of their resources and capabilities, shall encourage social progress and development by expanding economic opportunities particularly in developing countries and, most importantly, in the least developed countries.
- (b) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall respect the right to development, which all peoples are entitled to participate in and contribute to, and the right to enjoy economic, social, cultural and political development in which all human rights and fundamental freedoms can be fully realized and in which sustainable development can be achieved so as to protect the rights of future generations.
- (c) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall respect the rights of local communities affected by their activities and the rights of indigenous peoples and communities consistent with international human rights standards such as the Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention, 1989 (No. 169). They shall particularly respect the rights of indigenous peoples and similar communities to own, occupy, develop, control, protect and use their lands, other natural resources, and cultural and intellectual property. They shall also respect the principle of free, prior and informed consent of the indigenous peoples and communities to be affected by their development projects. Indigenous peoples and communities shall not be deprived of their own means of subsistence, nor shall they be removed from lands which they occupy in a manner inconsistent with Convention No. 169. Further, they shall avoid endangering the health, environment, culture and institutions of indigenous peoples and communities in the context of projects, including road building in or near indigenous peoples and communities. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall use particular care in situations in which indigenous lands, resources, or rights thereto have not been adequately demarcated or defined.
- (d) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall respect, protect and apply intellectual property rights in a manner that contributes to the promotion of technological innovation and to the transfer and dissemination of technology, to the mutual advantage of producers and users of technological knowledge, in a manner conducive to social and economic welfare, such as the protection of public health, and to a balance of rights and obligations.
- 11. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall not offer, promise, give, accept, condone, knowingly benefit from, or demand a bribe or other improper advantage, nor shall they be solicited or expected to give a bribe or other improper advantage to any Government, public official, candidate for elective post, any member of the armed forces or security forces, or any other individual or organization. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall refrain

from any activity which supports, solicits, or encourages States or any other entities to abuse human rights. They shall further seek to ensure that the goods and services they provide will not be used to abuse human rights.

#### Commentary

- (a) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall enhance the transparency of their activities in regard to payments made to Governments and public officials; openly fight against bribery, extortion and other forms of corruption; and cooperate with State authorities responsible for combating corruption.
- (b) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall not receive payment, reimbursement, or other benefit in the form of natural resources without the approval of the recognized Government of the State of origin of such resources.
- (c) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall assure that the information in their financial statements fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the business.
- 12. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall respect economic, social and cultural rights as well as civil and political rights and contribute to their realization, in particular the rights to development, adequate food and drinking water, the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, adequate housing, privacy, education, freedom of thought, conscience, and religion and freedom of opinion and expression, and shall refrain from actions which obstruct or impede the realization of those rights.

- (a) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall observe standards that promote the availability, accessibility, acceptability and quality of the right to health, for example as identified in article 12 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, general comment No. 14 on the right to the highest attainable standard of health adopted by the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and the relevant standards established by the World Health Organization.
- (b) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall observe standards which promote the availability of food in a quantity and of a quality sufficient to satisfy the dietary needs of individuals, free from adverse substances, acceptable within a given culture, accessible in ways that are sustainable and do not interfere with the enjoyment of other human rights, and are otherwise in accordance with international standards such as article 11 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and general comment No. 12 on the right to adequate food adopted by the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall further observe standards which protect the right to water and are otherwise in accordance with general comment No. 15 adopted by the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights on the right to water.
- (c) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall further observe standards which protect the right to adequate housing and are otherwise in accordance with article 11 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and general comment No. 7 adopted by the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights on the right to adequate housing: forced evictions. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall not forcibly evict individuals, families and/or communities against their will from their homes and/or land which they occupy without having had recourse to, and access to, appropriate forms of legal or other protection pursuant to international human rights law.
- (d) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall observe standards that protect other economic, social and cultural rights and are otherwise in accordance with the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and the relevant general comments adopted by the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, paying

particular attention to the implementation of norms stated in paragraphs 16 (g) and (i).

(e) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall observe standards that protect civil and political rights and are otherwise in accordance with the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and the relevant general comments adopted by the Human Rights Committee.

#### F. Obligations with regard to consumer protection

13. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall act in accordance with fair business, marketing and advertising practices and shall take all necessary steps to ensure the safety and quality of the goods and services they provide, including observance of the precautionary principle. Nor shall they produce, distribute, market, or advertise harmful or potentially harmful products for use by consumers.

- (a) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall adhere to the relevant international standards of business practice regarding competition and anti-trust matters, such as The Set of Multilaterally Agreed Equitable Principles and Rules for the Control of Restrictive Business Practices of the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development. A transnational corporation or other business enterprise shall encourage the development and maintenance of fair, transparent and open competition by not entering into arrangements with competing businesses to directly or indirectly fix prices, divide territories, or create monopoly positions.
- (b) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall observe relevant international standards for the protection of consumers, such as the United Nations Guidelines for Consumer Protection, and relevant international standards for the promotion of specific products, such as the International Code of Marketing of Breast-milk Substitutes adopted by the World Health Assembly and the Ethical Criteria for Medical Drug Promotion of the World Health Organization. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall ensure that all marketing claims are independently verifiable, satisfy reasonable and relevant legal levels of truthfulness, and are not misleading. Further, they shall not target children when advertising potentially harmful products.
- (c) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall ensure that all goods and services they produce, distribute, or market are capable of use for the purposes claimed, safe for intended and reasonably foreseeable uses, do not endanger the life or health of consumers, and are regularly monitored and tested to ensure compliance with these standards, in the context of reasonable usage and custom. They shall adhere to relevant international standards so as to avoid variations in the quality of products that would have detrimental effects on consumers, especially in States lacking specific regulations on product quality. They shall further respect the precautionary principle when dealing, for example, with preliminary risk assessments that may indicate unacceptable effects on health or the environment. Further, they shall not use the lack of full scientific certainty as a reason to delay the introduction of cost-effective measures intended to prevent such effects.
- (d) Any information provided by a transnational corporation or other business enterprise with regard to the purchase, use, content, maintenance, storage and disposal of its products and services shall be provided in a clear, comprehensible and prominently visible manner and in the language officially recognized by the country in which such products or services are provided. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises, when appropriate, shall also provide information regarding the appropriate recycling, reusability and disposal of its products and services.
- (e) Consistent with paragraph 15 (e), where a product is potentially harmful to the consumer, transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall disclose all appropriate information on the contents and possible hazardous effects of the products they produce through proper labeling, informative and accurate advertising and other appropriate methods. In particular, they shall warn if death or serious injury is probable from a defect,

use, or misuse. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall supply appropriate information of potentially harmful products to the relevant authorities. This information shall include the characteristics of products or services that may cause injury to the health and safety of consumers, workers, or others, and information regarding restrictions, warnings and other regulatory measures imposed by several countries as to these products or services on the grounds of health and safety protection.

#### G. Obligations with regard to environmental protection

14. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall carry out their activities in accordance with national laws, regulations, administrative practices and policies relating to the preservation of the environment of the countries in which they operate, as well as in accordance with relevant international agreements, principles, objectives, responsibilities and standards with regard to the environment as well as human rights, public health and safety, bioethics and the precautionary principle, and shall generally conduct their activities in a manner contributing to the wider goal of sustainable development.

- (a) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall respect the right to a clean and healthy environment in the light of the relationship between the environment and human rights; concerns for intergenerational equity; internationally recognized environmental standards, for example with regard to air pollution, water pollution, land use, biodiversity and hazardous wastes; and the wider goal of sustainable development, that is, development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.
- (b) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall be responsible for the environmental and human health impact of all of their activities, including any products or services they introduce into commerce, such as packaging, transportation and by-products of the manufacturing process.
- (c) Consistent with paragraph 16 (i), in decision-making processes and on a periodic basis (preferably annually or biannually), transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall assess the impact of their activities on the environment and human health including impacts from siting decisions, natural resource extraction activities, the production and sale of products or services, and the generation, storage, transport and disposal of hazardous and toxic substances. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall ensure that the burden of negative environmental consequences shall not fall on vulnerable racial, ethnic and socio-economic groups.
- (d) Assessments shall, inter alia, address particularly the impact of proposed activities on certain groups, such as children, older persons, indigenous peoples and communities (particularly in regard to their land and natural resources), and/or women. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall distribute such reports in a timely manner and in a manner that is accessible to the United Nations Environmental Programme, the ILO, other interested international bodies, the national Government hosting each company, the national Government where the business maintains its principal office and other affected groups. The reports shall be accessible to the general public.
- (e) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall respect the prevention principle, for example by preventing and/or mitigating deleterious impacts identified in any assessment. They shall also respect the precautionary principle when dealing, for example, with preliminary risk assessments that may indicate unacceptable effects on health or the environment. Further, they shall not use the lack of full scientific certainty as a reason to delay the introduction of cost-effective measures intended to prevent such effects.
- (f) Upon the expiration of the useful life of their products or services, transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall ensure effective means of collecting or arranging for the collection of the remains of the product or services for recycling, reuse

and/or environmentally responsible disposal.

(g) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall take appropriate measures in their activities to reduce the risk of accidents and damage to the environment by adopting best management practices and technologies. In particular, they shall use best management practices and appropriate technologies and enable their component entities to meet these environmental objectives through the sharing of technology, knowledge and assistance, as well as through environmental management systems, sustainability reporting, and reporting of anticipated or actual releases of hazardous and toxic substances. In addition, they shall educate and train workers to ensure their compliance with these objectives.

# H. General provisions of implementation

15. As an initial step towards implementing these Norms, each transnational corporation or other business enterprise shall adopt, disseminate and implement internal rules of operation in compliance with the Norms. Further, they shall periodically report on and take other measures fully to implement the Norms and to provide at least for the prompt implementation of the protections set forth in the Norms. Each transnational corporation or other business enterprise shall apply and incorporate these Norms in their contracts or other arrangements and dealings with contractors, subcontractors, suppliers, licensees, distributors, or natural or other legal persons that enter into any agreement with the transnational corporation or business enterprise in order to ensure respect for and implementation of the Norms.

- (a) Each transnational corporation or other business enterprise shall disseminate its internal rules of operation or similar measures, as well as implementation procedures, and make them available to all relevant stakeholders. The internal rules of operation or similar measures shall be communicated in oral and written form in the language of workers, trade unions, contractors, subcontractors, suppliers, licensees, distributors, natural or other legal persons that enter into contracts with the transnational corporation or other business enterprise, customers and other stakeholders in the transnational corporation or other business enterprise.
- (b) Once internal rules of operation or similar measures have been adopted and disseminated, transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall to the extent of their resources and capabilities provide effective training for their managers as well as workers and their representatives in practices relevant to the Norms.
- (c) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall ensure that they only do business with (including purchasing from and selling to) contractors, subcontractors, suppliers, licensees, distributors, and natural or other legal persons that follow these or substantially similar Norms. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises using or considering entering into business relationships with contractors, subcontractors, suppliers, licensees, distributors, or natural or other legal persons that do not comply with the Norms shall initially work with them to reform or decrease violations, but if they will not change, the enterprise shall cease doing business with them.
- (d) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall enhance the transparency of their activities by disclosing timely, relevant, regular and reliable information regarding their activities, structure, financial situation and performance. They shall also make known the location of their offices, subsidiaries and factories, so as to facilitate measures to ensure that the enterprises, products and services are being produced under conditions that respect these Norms.
- (e) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall inform in a timely manner everyone who may be affected by conditions caused by the enterprises that might endanger health, safety, or the environment.
- (f) Each transnational corporation or other business shall endeavour to improve continually its further implementation of these Norms.

16. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall be subject to periodic monitoring and verification by United Nations, other international and national mechanisms already in existence or yet to be created, regarding application of the Norms. This monitoring shall be transparent and independent and take into account input from stakeholders (including non-governmental organizations) and as a result of complaints of violations of these Norms. Further, transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall conduct periodic evaluations concerning the impact of their own activities on human rights under these Norms.

- (a) These Norms shall be monitored and implemented through amplification and interpretation of intergovernmental, regional, national and local standards with regard to the conduct of transnational corporations and other business enterprises.
- (b) United Nations human rights treaty bodies should monitor implementation of these Norms through the creation of additional reporting requirements for States and the adoption of general comments and recommendations interpreting treaty obligations. The United Nations and its specialized agencies should also monitor implementation by using the Norms as the basis for procurement determinations concerning products and services to be purchased and with which transnational corporations and other business enterprises develop partnerships in the field. Country rapporteurs and thematic procedures of the United Nations, Commission on Human Rights should monitor implementation by using the Norms and other relevant international standards for raising concerns about actions by transnational corporations and other business enterprises within their respective mandates. The Commission on Human Rights should consider establishing a group of experts, a special rapporteur, or working group of the Commission to receive information and take effective action when enterprises fail to comply with the Norms. The Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights and its relevant working group should also monitor compliance with the Norms and developing best practices by receiving information from non-governmental organizations, unions, individuals and others, and then by allowing transnational corporations or other business enterprises an opportunity to respond. Further, the Sub-Commission, its working group and other United Nations bodies are invited to develop additional techniques for implementing and monitoring these Norms and other effective mechanisms and to ensure access is given to NGOs, unions, individuals and others.
- (c) Trade unions are encouraged to use the Norms as a basis for negotiating agreements with transnational corporations and other business enterprises and monitoring compliance of these entities. NGOs are also encouraged to use the Norms as the basis for their expectations of the conduct of the transnational corporation or other business enterprise and monitoring compliance. Further, monitoring could take place by using the Norms as the basis for benchmarks of ethical investment initiatives and for other benchmarks of compliance. The Norms shall also be monitored through industry groups.
- (d) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall ensure that the monitoring process is transparent, for example by making available to relevant stakeholders the workplaces observed, remediation efforts undertaken and other results of monitoring. They shall further ensure that any monitoring seeks to obtain and incorporate input from relevant stakeholders. Further, they shall ensure such monitoring by their contractors, subcontractors, suppliers, licensees, distributors, and any other natural or legal persons with whom they have entered into any agreement, to the extent possible.
- (e) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall provide legitimate and confidential avenues through which workers can file complaints with regard to violations of these Norms. To the extent possible, they shall make known to the complainant any actions taken as a result of the investigation. Further, they shall not discipline or take other action against workers or others who submit complaints or who assert that any company has failed to comply with these Norms.
- (f) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises receiving claims of violations of these Norms shall make a record of each claim and obtain an independent investigation of the

claim or call upon other proper authorities. They shall actively monitor the status of investigations, press for their full resolution and take action to prevent recurrences.

- (g) Each transnational corporation or other business enterprise shall engage in an annual or other periodic assessment of its compliance with the Norms, taking into account comments from and encourage the participation of indigenous peoples and communities to determine how best to respect their rights. The results of the assessment shall be made available to stakeholders to the same extent as the annual report of the transnational corporation or other business enterprise.
- (h) Assessments revealing inadequate compliance with the Norms shall also include plans of action or methods of reparation and redress that the transnational corporation or other business enterprise will pursue in order to fulfill the Norms. See also paragraph 18.
- (i) Before a transnational corporation or other business enterprise pursues a major initiative or project, it shall, to the extent of its resources and capabilities, study the human rights impact of that project in the light of these Norms. The impact statement shall include a description of the action, its need, anticipated benefits, an analysis of any human rights impact related to the action, an analysis of reasonable alternatives to the action, and identification of ways to reduce any negative human rights consequences. A transnational corporation or other business enterprise shall make available the results of that study to relevant stakeholders and shall consider any reactions from stakeholders.
- 17. States should establish and reinforce the necessary legal and administrative framework for ensuring that the Norms and other relevant national and international laws are implemented by transnational corporations and other business enterprises.

#### Commentary

- (a) Governments should implement and monitor the use of the Norms, for example, by making them widely available and using them as a model for legislation or administrative provisions with regard to the activities of each enterprise doing business in their country, including through the use of labour inspections, ombudspersons, national human rights commissions, or other national human rights mechanisms.
- 18. Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall provide prompt, effective and adequate reparation to those persons, entities and communities that have been adversely affected by failures to comply with these Norms through, inter alia, reparations, restitution, compensation and rehabilitation for any damage done or property taken. In connection with determining damages, in regard to criminal sanctions, and in all other respects, these Norms shall be applied by national courts and/or international tribunals, pursuant to national and international law.
- 19. Nothing in these Norms shall be construed as diminishing, restricting, or adversely affecting the human rights obligations of States under national and international law, nor shall they be construed as diminishing, restricting, or adversely affecting more protective human rights norms, nor shall they be construed as diminishing, restricting, or adversely affecting other obligations or responsibilities of transnational corporations and other business enterprises in fields other than human rights.

#### Commentary

(a) This savings clause is intended to ensure that transnational corporations and other business enterprises will pursue the course of conduct that is the most protective of human rights – whether found in these Norms or in other relevant sources. If more protective standards are recognized or emerge in international or State law or in industry or business practices, those more protective standards shall be pursued. This savings clause is styled after similar savings clauses found in such instruments as the Convention on the Rights of the Child (art. 41). This provision and similar references in the Norms to national and international law are also based upon the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (art. 27), in that a State may not invoke the provisions of its internal law as justification for its failure to comply with

- a treaty, the Norms, or other international law norms.
- (b) Transnational corporations and other business enterprises are encouraged to express their own commitment to respecting, ensuring respect for, preventing abuses of, and promoting internationally recognized human rights by adopting their own internal human rights rules of operation which are even more conducive to the promotion and protection of human rights than those contained in these Norms.

#### I. Definitions

- 20. The term "transnational corporation" refers to an economic entity operating in more than one country or a cluster of economic entities operating in two or more countries whatever their legal form, whether in their home country or country of activity, and whether taken individually or collectively.
- 21. The phrase "other business enterprise" includes any business entity, regardless of the international or domestic nature of its activities, including a transnational corporation, contractor, subcontractor, supplier, licensee or distributor; the corporate, partnership, or other legal form used to establish the business entity; and the nature of the ownership of the entity. These Norms shall be presumed to apply, as a matter of practice, if the business enterprise has any relation with a transnational corporation, the impact of its activities is not entirely local, or the activities involve violations of the right to security as indicated in paragraphs 3 and 4.
- 22. The term "stakeholder" includes stockholders, other owners, workers and their representatives, as well as any other individual or group that is affected by the activities of transnational corporations or other business enterprises. The term "stakeholder" shall be interpreted functionally in the light of the objectives of these Norms and include indirect stakeholders when their interests are or will be substantially affected by the activities of the transnational corporation or business enterprise. In addition to parties directly affected by the activities of business enterprises, stakeholders can include parties which are indirectly affected by the activities of transnational corporations and other business enterprises such as consumer groups, customers, Governments, neighbouring communities, indigenous peoples and communities, nongovernmental organizations, public and private lending institutions, suppliers, trade associations and others.
- 23. The phrases "human rights" and "international human rights" include civil, cultural, economic, political and social rights, as set forth in the International Bill of Human Rights and other human rights treaties, as well as the right to development and rights recognized by international humanitarian law, international refugee law, international labour law, and other relevant instruments adopted within the United Nations system.



Amnesty International 1 Easton Street London WC1X ODW Tel: 44 (0)20 7413 5500

www.amnesty.org